FILED
JUNE 7, 2013
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

NO. 31208-9-III

COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

V.

ADRIAN BENTURA OZUNA,

Defendant/Appellant.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Dennis W. Morgan WSBA #5286 Attorney for Appellant P.O. Box 1019 Republic, Washington 99166 (509) 775-0777

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The State failed to present sufficient evidence of an actual communication of a threat.
- 2. The State did not present sufficient evidence of the gang aggravators as charged under RCW 9.94A.535(3)(s) and (aa).
- 3. The trial court improperly assessed a domestic violence (DV) assessment and costs of incarceration.
- 4. The trial court's Conclusions of Law II and III, entered following the CrR 3.6 hearing, are legally incorrect. (CP 192; Appendix "A")
- 5. Officer Layman of the Sunnyside Police Department should not have been allowed to speak at Adrian Bentura Ozuna's sentencing hearing.

ISSUES RELATING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. Was any threat ever actually communicated?

- 2. Did the State prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, each and every element of the gang aggravators as charged under RCW 9.94A.535(3)(s) and (aa)?
 - 3. a. Can a DV assessment be imposed on a non-DV offense?
- b. Does the trial court's failure to determine ability to pay costs of incarceration require removal of that amount from the Judgment and Sentence?
- 4. Are the trial court's CrR 3.6 Conclusions of Law II and III contrary to existing case law?
- 5. Should a law enforcement officer, who is not a victim of the charged offense, be allowed to present recommendations at a criminal defendant's sentencing hearing?

STATEMENT OF CASE

Mr. Ozuna was incarcerated at the Yakima County Jail during the month of June 2010. On June 8, 2010 he was moved from one (1) unit to another unit. As part of the transition between units a search of his belongings occurred. Corrections officers found two (2) letters with another inmate's name and return address. (RP 218, II. 4-12; II. 14-23)

Officer Volland located the letters. They were in Mr. Ozuna's belongings on the floor outside of his cell. There were no stamps on the letters. The officer could not remember if they were sealed. (RP 91, 1. 22 to RP 92, 1. 1; RP 216, Il. 19-20; RP 224, 1. 18 to RP 225, 1. 3; RP 225, Il. 14-24)

The letters were turned over to Lieutenant Costello as a possible violation of the inmate mail policy. (RP 265, ll. 16-18; RP 268, l. 18 to RP 269, l. 11)

The letters were undated. They did not identify any individual by name. The letters were then turned over to Detective Rollinger of the Sunnyside Police Department. (RP 286, Il. 7-15; RP 311, Il. 18-23)

She submitted them to the Washington State Patrol Crime Lab for forensic analysis by a handwriting expert. Brett Bishop examined the letters. He determined that the handwriting was Mr. Ozuna's. (RP 231, ll. 4-7, ll. 11-13; RP 241, ll. 17-24)

Detective Rollinger believed that the letters referred to Jaime Avalos who had been a witness in Mr. Ozuna's prior trial. She was present in the courtroom when Mr. Avalos testified in that trial. (RP 312, II. 11-14; RP 318, II. 1-5; II. 9-14; RP 319, I. 21 to RP 320, I. 9)

Detective Rollinger showed the letters to Mr. Avalos on June 14, 2010. Mr. Avalos was later attacked in a jail holding cell. He received a

six (6) cm. laceration to the posterior scalp and a cut to his upper lip. Stitches were needed. He was transported to Yakima Regional Hospital emergency room. (RP 325, ll. 10-19; RP 341, ll. 2-4; ll. 12-14; RP 343, ll. 1-11)

On June 25, 2010 Mr. Ozuna made a telephone call from the jail. The call indicated that he had been written up for witness tampering. He was going to explain to the judge that he was mad when he wrote the letters. (RP 346, Il. 2-17; RP 347, Il. 14-16; RP 348, Il. 3-10)

An Information was filed on October 24, 2011 charging Mr. Ozuna with intimidation of a witness. Mr. Ozuna had already been transferred to the Department of Corrections. His preliminary appearance occurred on January 26, 2012. (RP 63, ll. 16-24; CP 1; CP 7)

A *Knapstad*¹ hearing was conducted on March 13, 2012. The trial court denied the motion. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were not entered until October 17, 2012. (RP 20, l. 18 to RP 21, l. 8; CP 10; CP 212)

Multiple continuances were granted prior to the commencement of trial on October 3, 2012. (CP 40; CP 42; CP 43; CP 44; CP 45; CP 46; CP 47; CP 49; CP 50; CP 60; CP 63; CP 68; CP 69)

1

¹ State v. Knapstad, 107 Wn. 2d 346, 729 P. 2d 48 (1986)

A CrR 3.6 motion was filed on June 29, 2012. The motion sought to suppress the letters that had been seized by jail staff. (CP 51)

The suppression hearing was conducted on July 20, 2012. Lieutenant Costello advised the Court that Mr. Ozuna was on a watch mail list. Inmates are put on a watch mail list if any suspicious mail is found. The inmate's mail is always opened if he/she is on the list. Mr. Ozuna had been placed on that list on January 11, 2009. (RP 38, II. 6-7; RP 38, I. 17 to RP 39, I. 3; RP 41, II. 20-23; RP 43, II. 3-8; RP 47, II. 15-17)

Mr. Ozuna was never given notice that he was on the watch mail list. Lieutenant Costello indicated that inmates can be removed from the list at a later date. (RP 53, Il. 21-25; RP 54, Il. 15-22)

The trial court denied the CrR 3.6 motion. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were entered on October 16, 2012. (CP 190)

On September 4, 2012 a motion to dismiss for lack of timely arraignment was filed with the Court. The trial court denied the motion. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were entered on October 17, 2012. (CP 64; CP 214)

Prior to Mr. Avalos being attacked in the jail a safety alert had been issued. David Soto was the inmate who attacked Mr. Avalos. Mr. Ozuna, Mr. Avalos and Mr. Soto all have ties with the Sũrenos. (RP 296,

II. 23-25; RP 297, II. 9-10; II. 17-25; RP 300, I. 16 to RP 301, I. 2; RP 305, I. 12 to RP 306, I. 1; RP 323, I. 24 to RP 324, I. 5)

The State did not present any evidence of a relationship between Mr. Soto and Mr. Ozuna. Mr. Ozuna was not present at the time Mr. Avalos was attacked. (RP 301, Il. 11-18)

Mr. Avalos testified at trial. He indicated that Mr. Ozuna was his friend prior to 2008. He denied any gang association. He stated he was not concerned about Mr. Ozuna. Mr. Ozuna never threatened him. (RP 414, II. 9-19; RP 418, II. 2-7; RP 425, II. 20-22)

Officer Ortiz of the Sunnyside Police Department testified as a gang expert at trial. He stated that gangs commit various crimes to enhance their personal status and to further group interests. All gangs have a snitch code. (RP 428, Il. 12-18; RP 437, Il. 15-25; RP 438, Il. 13-18)

Officer Ortiz indicated that the word "campana," which was contained in one (1) of the letters, means the English word "bell." This references the BGL gang. Both Mr. Avalos and Mr. Ozuna are members of the BGL. (RP 439, ll. 16-17; RP 441, ll. 3-15; RP 442, ll. 14-21)

Officer Ortiz further indicated that if one (1) gang member snitches on another retaliation will occur. The phrase "rest in piss" contained in one (1) of the letters is a phrase of disrespect. (RP 443, Il. 11-17; RP 447, Il. 1-5)

The trial court denied Mr. Ozuna's motion to dismiss for lack of proof of communication. (RP 463, l. 8 to RP 466, l. 17)

The jury found Mr. Ozuna guilty. It entered special verdicts concerning the gang enhancements that were set forth in the Information. (CP 145; CP 147; CP 148)

Judgment and Sentence was entered on October 16, 2012. Mr. Ozuna filed his Notice of Appeal that same date. (CP 194; CP 203)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that any communication of an actual threat occurred.

The State failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, the presence of gang aggravators.

The trial court improperly imposed a DV assessment and costs of incarceration.

The trial court's Conclusions of Law II and III, entered after the CrR 3.6 hearing, are legally erroneous.

Allowing a non-victim police officer to speak at a sentencing hearing is impermissible under RCW 7.69.020(3) and RCW 7.69.030.

ARGUMENT

I. LACK OF COMMUNICATION

RCW 9A.72.110 defines intimidating a witness as follows:

. . .

- (2) A person ... is guilty of intimidating a witness if the person directs a threat to a former witness because of the witness's role in an official proceeding.
- (3) As used in this section:
- (a) "Threat" means:
- (i) To communicate, directly or indirectly, the intent immediately to use force against any person who is present at the time; or
- (ii) Threat as defined in *RCW 9A.04.-110(27).

There was no immediate threat to use force against Jaime Avalos. Any alleged threat was contained in a letter. Mr. Avalos was not present at the time that the alleged threat was made. Thus, any threat would have to be a threat as defined in RCW 9A.04.110(28). "Threat" is defined as:

... to communicate, directly or indirectly the intent:

(a) To cause bodily injury in the future to the person threatened or to any other person; or

. . .

(j) To do any other act which is intended to harm substantially the person threatened or another with respect to his or her health, safety, business, financial condition, or personal relationships

Instruction 8 defined "threat" for the jury. It included subparagraphs (a) and (j) of RCW 9A.04.110(28). (CP 160; Appendix "B")

Instruction 8 includes the following language:

To be a threat, a statement or act must occur in a context or under such circumstances where a reasonable person, in the position of the speaker, would foresee that the statement or act would be interpreted as a serious expression of intention to carry out the threat.

The alleged threat(s) is/are contained in a letter written by Mr. Ozuna. The letter was never mailed. The letter was never given to another person. The letter was seized by jail officials. No actual communication occurred.

The Legislature has not seen fit to define the word "communicate." "Communicate" means:

- **1. to impart** knowledge of; **make known** ...
- 2. to give to another; impart; transmit ...
- **5.** to give or interchange thoughts, feelings, information, or the like, by writing, speaking ...

WEBSTER'S ENCYCLOPEDIC UNABRIDGED DICTIONARY OF THE ENGLISH LANGUAGE (1996 ed.). (Emphasis supplied.)

It is obvious from the definition of "communicate" that there must be some transmittal of information from one (1) person to another in order to effect a communication. "Communication" is defined as:

1. the act or process of communicating ... 2. the imparting or interchange of thoughts, opinions, or information by speech, writing, or signs. 3. something imparted, interchanged, or transmitted. ...

WEBSTER'S ENCYCLOPEDIC UNABRIDGED DICTIONARY OF THE ENGLISH LANGUAGE (1996 ed.). (Emphasis supplied.)

Mr. Ozuna was identified as the individual who wrote the letters.

However, the contents were never communicated by him to anyone else.

In the absence of any communication, no crime could be committed.

Synonyms for the word "communicate" include: "divulge, announce, disclose, reveal." Webster's Encyclopedic Unabridged Dictionary of the English Language (1996 ed.)

It is obvious that nothing was divulged to anyone else.

It is obvious that nothing was announced to anyone else.

It is obvious that nothing was disclosed to anyone else.

It is obvious that nothing was revealed to anyone else.

A further definition of "communication" is found in BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (9th ed.):

1. the expression or exchange of information by speech, writing, gestures, or conduct; the process of bringing an idea to another's perception. 2. the information so expressed or exchanged.

(Emphasis supplied.)

If the letter had been mailed then a communication would have occurred. Since it was not mailed, no communication could occur.

The cases that have dealt with either intimidation of a witness or intimidation of a judge involve actual communications: *i.e.*, transmittal of the "threat" to another person.

The Court, in *State v. Hansen*, 122 Wn.2d 712, 718, 862 P.2d 117 (1993), stated:

This language evidences a clear intent by the Legislature that RCW 9A.72.160 [intimidation of a judge] includes threats communicated in an indirect fashion as well as direct threats. To carry out this legislative intent and realize the proper interpretation of RCW 9A.72.160, the statute must be construed as a whole by incorporating the definition of threat into subsection (1) of the statute. Under this interpretation, whoever threatens a judge, either directly or indirectly, *e.g.*, **through a third person ... is chargeable under RCW 9A.72.160.**

(Emphasis supplied.)

In *State v. Anderson*, 111 Wn. App. 317, 44 P.3d 857 (2002), Mr. Anderson sent a letter to his mother with a threat toward a CPS worker.

Even though Mr. Anderson requested that his mother destroy the letter afterwards, it was turned over to law enforcement.

The *Anderson* Court relied upon *State v. Hansen* in concluding that a communication occurred.

Instruction No. 5 is the to-convict instruction. It correctly states that a threat must be directed to a former witness. If the threat is never conveyed to another person, then it is nothing except self-expression. (CP 157; Appendix "C")

II. GANG AGGRAVATORS

RCW 9.94A.535(3)(s) states:

The defendant committed the offense to obtain or maintain his or her membership or to advance his or her position in the hierarchy of an organization, association, or identifiable group.

The identifiable group is the Surenos. Mr. Ozuna is a member of the Surenos.

Since Mr. Ozuna is a member, the State was required to prove that the charged offense was committed in order to maintain his membership in, or to advance his position in the hierarchy of, the Sũrenos.

No testimony was presented that the alleged offense was committed to maintain membership.

Officer Ortiz's testimony was generalized testimony concerning gang activity without specification to Mr. Ozuna. This generalized testimony is inadequate to establish the aggravating factor under subparagraph (3)(s). *See: State v. Yarbrough*, 151 Wn. App. 66, 96-97, 210 P.3d 1029 (2009); *State v. Bluehorse*, 159 Wn. App. 410, 428-31, 248 P.3d 537 (2011).

The State did not present any testimony that the alleged actions by Mr. Ozuna advanced his position in the hierarchy of the Sũrenos.

On the other hand, RCW 9.94A.535(3)(aa) sets forth an aggravating factor that pertains to the gang itself, as opposed to the individual. The statute reads:

The defendant committed the offense with the intent to directly or indirectly cause any benefit, aggrandizement, gain, profit, or other advantage to or for a criminal street gang as defined in RCW 9.94A.030, its reputation, influence, or membership.

Instructions 18 and 20 set forth the aggravating factors and the definition of "criminal street gang." No definitional instruction was given with regard to the phrase "pattern of criminal street gang activity." (CP 171; CP 173; Appendices "D" and "E")

It appears that the State relied upon Officer Ortiz's testimony that retaliation will occur if a gang member snitches on another gang member.

Yet, Corporal Merriman, from the Yakima County Jail, stated that gang membership is not a prerequisite to retaliation when an inmate testifies against someone. The rumor spreads through the jail quickly. (RP 485, Il. 17-20; RP 486, I. 18 to RP 487, I. 5; RP 488, Il. 10-15)

The evidence presented by the State does not meet its burden of proof concerning the aggravating factor under either RCW 9.94A.535(3)(s) or (aa).

III. JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE

A. DV Assessment

The Judgment and Sentence contains a one hundred dollar (\$100.00) DV assessment. RCW 10.99.080(1) states:

All superior courts, and courts organized under Title 3 or 35 RCW, may impose a penalty assessment not to exceed one hundred dollars on any person convicted of a crime involving domestic violence. The assessment shall be in addition to, and shall not supersede, any other penalty, restitution, fines, or costs provided by law.

It is readily apparent that the DV assessment can only be imposed on a crime involving domestic violence. Intimidation of a witness, under the facts and circumstances of Mr. Ozuna's case, does not constitute a crime of domestic violence.

RCW 10.99.020(5) provides, in part: "Domestic violence' includes but is not limited to any of the following crimes when committed by one family or household member against another"

There is no evidence in the record that Mr. Ozuna and Mr. Avalos are related.

There is no evidence in the record that Mr. Avalos and Mr. Ozuna were household members as defined in RCW 10.99.020(3).

B. Ability to Pay

The trial court made no determination on the record of Mr. Ozuna's ability to make payment of the costs of incarceration or other legal financial obligations. As announced in *State v. Bertrand*, 165 Wn. App. 393, 404 (2011):

... [T]he record must be sufficient for us to review whether "the trial court judge took into account the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden" imposed by LFOs under the clearly erroneous standard. *Baldwin*, [State v. Baldwin, 63 Wn. App. 303, 818 P2.d 1116, 837 P.2d 646 (1991)] at 312.

As in the *Bertrand* case, the appropriate remedy is to strike the requirement for the payment of costs of incarceration and other legal financial obligations with the exception of the crime victim assessment and filing fee.

IV. CrR 3.6 Conclusions

The trial court determined that Mr. Ozuna had no reasonable expectation of privacy with regard to his mail. The trial court described the letters as "contraband."

The trial court also determined that the jail had a legitimate governmental interest in maintaining order and discipline as well as to preserve the safety of staff and other individuals in the jail.

Mr. Ozuna contends that even though he was placed on a mail watch list in 2009, the fact that he was transferred to prison and then returned to the Yakima County Jail, with no new incident occurring, did not justify again placing him on a mail watch list.

Mr. Ozuna recognizes that

'... many rights and privileges are subject to limitation in penal institutions because of paramount institutional goals and policies.' State v. Hartzog, 96 Wn.2d 383, 391, 635 P.2d 691 (1981); see also Hudson v. Palmer, 468 U.S. 517, 524, 104 S. Ct. 3194, 82 L. Ed.2d 393 (1984). In particular, considerable deference must be given to prison administrators to regulate communications between prisoners and the outside world. Thornburgh v. Abbott, 490 U.S. 401, 408, 109 S. Ct. 1874, 104 L. Ed.2d 459 (1989); see also Sappenfield v. Dep't of Corr., 127 Wn. App. 83, 110 P.3d 808 (2005)

Livingston v. Cedeno, 164 Wn.2d 486, 53, 186 P.2d 1055 (2008).

The ability of prison/jail officials to interfere with an inmate's mail does have certain limitations.

When an inmate's mail is restricted, the requirements for due process are satisfied if the inmate receives notice of the restriction and has a reasonable opportunity to protest, and if the restriction is reviewed by a third party who did not participate in the original decision. *See Procunier v. Martinez*, 416 U.S. 396, 418-19, 94 S. Ct. 1800, 40 L. Ed.2d 224 (1974).

Personal Restraint of Arseneau, 98 Wn. App. 368, 378, 989 P.2d 1197 (1999). (Emphasis supplied.)

The record is devoid of any information that Mr. Ozuna was given notice of the mail restriction.

Moreover, since Mr. Ozuna had been transferred from jail to prison, and then returned, the restriction should be deemed abrogated in the absence of a further violation.

RCW 9.73.020 states:

Every person who shall, wilfully open or read, or cause to be opened or read, any sealed message, letter or telegram intended for another person, or publish the whole or any portion of such a message, letter or telegram, knowing it to have been opened or read without authority, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor.

Lieutenant Costello could not recall if the letters were sealed when he received them. (RP 53, ll. 1-9)

Officer Volland, who seized the letters, could not remember whether the letters were sealed. (RP 225, ll. 14-24)

Also, the trial court's determination that the letters were contraband is questionable. RCW 72.09.015(2) defines "contraband" as

... any object or communication the secretary determines shall not be allowed to be: (a) Brought into; (b) possessed while on the grounds of; or (c) sent from any institution under the control of the secretary.

RCW 72.09.015 relates to prisons only. The State did not introduce any documentation to elucidate the Yakima County Jail policy concerning "contraband."

In the absence of the presentation of a specific documented policy the trial court's conclusions cannot be justified. The letters should have been suppressed.

V. SENTENCING

RCW 7.69.030 provides, in part:

There shall be a reasonable effort made to ensure that victims, survivors of victims, and witnesses of crimes have the following rights, which apply to any criminal court ...:

. . .

(14) With respect to victims and survivors of victims, to present a statement personally or by representation, at the sentencing hearing for felony convictions

Jaime Avalos was the alleged victim of the intimidating a witness charge. Officer Layman had no connection to the case. Officer Layman was not a victim.

RCW 7.69.020(3) defines a "victim" as "a person against whom a crime has been committed or the representative of a person against whom a crime has been committed."

Allowing a law enforcement officer, who is not a victim, to speak on behalf of the State and/or law enforcement at a sentencing hearing is inappropriate. There is no statutory authority allowing a law enforcement officer to speak at sentencing unless the officer is a victim of the charged offense.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Ozuna's conviction should be reversed and the case dismissed since the State failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, an actual communication of an alleged threat.

If the conviction is not reversed, then the gang aggravators should be removed due to insufficient evidence that the crime was gang-related or gang-motivated.

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