NO. 31208-9-III

FILED

Nov 14, 2013

Court of Appeals

Division III

State of Washington

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

ADRIAN BENTURA OZUNA,

Appellant.

AMENDED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

David B. Trefry WSBA #16050 Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

JAMES P. HAGARTY Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2d St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

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

The testimony from Officer Volland and Lt. Costello was very specific, the letters that were seized would have been taken even if they did not contain threats, which they did, because the letter both there in envelopes that were addressed to parties outside the facility, were found in Ozuna's cell but had for a return address the name of a third party. This was in violation of the jail policy.

This court must note that Ozuna does not assign error to any of the trial court's written, or oral, findings of fact. Thus, this court shall consider them verities on appeal. State v. Brockob, 159 Wash.2d 311, 343, 150 P.3d 59 (2006) (citing State v. Hill, 123 Wash.2d 641, 647, 870 P.2d 313 (1994)). In addition, even where a trial court's written findings are incomplete or inadequate, this court can look to the trial court's oral findings to aid our review. State v. Robertson, 88 Wash.App. 836, 843, 947 P.2d 765 (1997, review denied, 135 Wash.2d 1004, 959 P.2d 127 (1998). In its oral ruling before issuing its written findings and conclusions, the trial court discussed in great detail the various reasons the letters were seized, the fact that Ozuna had prior notice of the mail list that he was on and the fact that while the law cited might allow for a possible criminal charge that same law did not allow for suppression of the letters that were seized. A review of the trial court's written findings and conclusions together with its very lengthy oral ruling will persuade this

court that the trial court clearly and thoroughly considered this issue after

briefing from both parties and came to a correct decision.

Office Brian Volland:

- **A.** And when I was going through that I found two letters.
- **Q.** Okay. And were those things that you collected or -- or decided he couldn't take with him?
- **A.** They had somebody else's name on it so I walked them down to the corporal and he took care of everything after that.
- **Q.** Okay. And by somebody else's name do you recall what part of the letter had somebody else's name on it?
- **A.** It was the return address part.
- **Q.** Okay. And was that on the letter or the envelope?
- **A.** It was on the envelope.
- **Q.** Okay. And so the return address part, it had a different name besides the defendant's name?
- A. Yes...
- **Q.** Okay. And is there a reason why it wasn't placed in his box and that -- and that you took that letter?
- **A.** Just because it had somebody else's name on it with the rest of the property being his.
- **Q.** Okay. And the other name was in the return address portion?
- A. Yes.
- **Q.** Okay. And why was that of concern to you?
- **A.** We just -- other people trying to send out mail in other people's names. We get -- and there's -- you know, certain people have -- on the read mail list.

RP 281, 219, 221

Testimony of Lt. Costello

- **Q.** Okay. And you mentioned that you thought you -- there might have been -- be an issue after you -- you read the letters. Why do you think there was an issue?
- **A.** Well, to begin with there was a sticky note that was with the envelopes that the -- that stated that although there was an inmate's name on -- on the return address -- I don't remember who that inmate was; but they actually belonged to Ozuna. And so that would 1 be a violation of mail policy and

they would be inspected at that point just because it was a violation of mail policy.

Q. Okay. And can you explain what that mail policy is?

A. Inmates are not allowed to send mail without using their own name, their own booking number, their own housing [inaudible on tape -- muffled].

Q. Okay.

A. Their return add -- the return address has to be correct to the inmate sending the mail.

Q. Okay. And are there -- I guess, consequences if somebody does that? **A.** Yes.

Q. Okay. Were -- were there any other issues you saw, other than potentially an inmate using somebody else's name?

A. When I first looked at it that's what I noticed so I knew that it was a violation of mail police. (sic) (The VPR says "police" it is clear the Lt. stated "policy.") I then looked at it and the contents of the mail itself was a -- what we would consider a safety or security breach.

Q. Okay. And why did you consider it a safety or security breach?

A. There was a threat to another person in it. RP 268-9

The trial court's oral ruling is as follows;

Lieutenant Costello comes into possession of these envelopes; they had been placed in his mailbox. Part of his duties, again, is reviewing this type of suspicious mail as he has identified it. And in this particular case what drew attention is Mr. Ozuna was being moved to a new cell and as part of the process of moving his belongings with him to a new cell these two letters are discovered in his cell.

What draws attention to them, again, is the other inmate's name of Mark Cole. And Lieutenant Costello has testified today that, regardless this would, whether the envelopes had been sealed or not sealed; whether the envelopes would have had a stamp on them or not had a stamp on them, it would have made no difference as to how these letters were handled because once another inmate's name is associated with letters found in Mr. Ozuna's cell, that raises the letters to the reasonable

suspicion pursuant the department's policies to then review those letters.

Because he said, you know, and again, regardless about whether the defendant had been advised of a mail watch list, being on it; not being on it, it would have made absolutely no difference because the suspicion was developed by the address of another inmate being placed on there that is, again, against policy in -- in this particular facility.

I think it was testified to that there is not inter -intramail where the inmates can't be sending mail to each
other while in the facility; that's not allowed. And so the - the -- the concern about those communications, leading
to safety issues or -- or a - a preservation, I'm going to
indicate, as part of an internal or inside maintenance of an
institutional security inside a penal institution.

So I -- that's why I stated I'm not really sure this Court would've benefited from Officer Valland's testimony as to whether it was sealed or unsealed, where they were found, *et cetera*, because it would not have changed how this was handled.

What we know about Mr. Ozuna is that he is at least familiar with the -- the mail list, the watch mail list or the read mail list, based upon an instant report from 2009 when he was placed on that list. And I think the only significance that has asked this Court's findings isn't anything to do with what that involved other than this wasn't news to Mr. Ozuna, that that was a potential thing that could happen with inmate mail because it had happened to him before. He had been placed on the list before. So to say that he had absolutely no idea that that could happen would be a bit disingenuous I think to argue to this Court. (RP 125-7)(Emphasis mine.)

The court acknowledged that there may have been a better method

by which Ozuna would have been apprised of what the mail rights.

However the court repeated on several occasions that it was

"disingenuous" for Ozuna to claim that he had no knowledge of the

policies of the jail. The court also stressed that while there may be a criminal sanction for if there was a violation of the statute governing the opening of this mail, there also was no provision for the suppression of this same item. (RP 127-32, 133-36)

State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 647-48, 870 P.2d 313 (1994) addresses the standard when this court reviews an allegation that a trial court improperly denied a motion to suppress;

Within our appellate court system there is no reason to make a distinction between constitutional claims, such as those involved in a suppression hearing, and other claims of right. The trier of fact is in a better position to assess the credibility of witnesses, take evidence, and observe the demeanor of those testifying. See <u>Tapper v. Employment Sec. Dep't</u>, 122 Wn.2d 397, 405, 858 P.2d 494 (1993); <u>Fisher Properties</u>, <u>Inc. v. Arden-Mayfair</u>, Inc., 115 Wn.2d 364, 369- 70, 798 P.2d 799 (1990). This remains true regardless of the nature of the rights involved.

There is adequate opportunity for review of trial court findings within the ordinary bounds of review. A trial court's erroneous determination of facts, unsupported by substantial evidence, will not be binding on appeal. Nord v. Eastside Ass'n Ltd., 34 Wn. App. 796, 798, 664 P.2d 4, review denied, 100 Wn.2d 1014 (1983); cf. Halstien. This strikes the proper balance between protecting the rights of the defendant, constitutional or otherwise, and according deference to the factual determinations of the actual trier of fact. We hold that in reviewing findings of fact entered following a motion to suppress, we will review only those facts to which error has been assigned. Where there is substantial evidence in the record supporting the challenged facts, those facts will be binding on appeal.

Ozuna cites to RCW 72.09.015 however a far more applicable statute is RCW 9A.76 Obstructing Governmental Operations and specifically RCW 9A.76.010. Definitions - Chapter 9A.76. Obstructing governmental operation 9A.76.010. Definitions

The following definitions are applicable in this chapter unless the context otherwise requires:

- (1) "Contraband" means any article or thing which a person confined in a detention facility or a secure facility under chapter 71.09 RCW is prohibited from obtaining or possessing by statute, rule, regulation, or order of a court;
- (2) "Custody" means restraint pursuant to a lawful arrest or an order of a court, or any period of service on a work crew: PROVIDED, That custody pursuant to chapter 13.34 RCW and RCW 74.13.020 and 74.13.031 and chapter 13.32A RCW shall not be deemed custody for purposes of this chapter;
- (3) "Detention facility" means any place used for the confinement of a person (a) arrested for, charged with or convicted of an offense, or (b) charged with being or adjudicated to be a juvenile offender as defined in RCW 13.40.020 as now existing or hereafter amended, or (c) held for extradition or as a material witness, or (d) otherwise confined pursuant to an order of a court, except an order under chapter 13.34 RCW or chapter 13.32A RCW, or (e) in any work release, furlough, or other such facility or program;

Livingston v. Cedeno, 164 Wn.2d 46, 52-3, 186 P.3d 1055 (Wash. 2008) states "The primary objective of the correctional system, on the other hand, is "to provide the maximum feasible safety" for the public, staff, and inmates. RCW 72.09.010(1). Accordingly, RCW 72.09.530 directs the Department to screen all incoming and outgoing materials and intercept any "contraband" in order to protect legitimate security concerns

within the state penal institutions. "Contraband" is defined as "any object or communication" banned by the Department from any institution under its control. RCW 72.09.015(4).

There was lengthy discussion regarding these findings and conclusions. (RP 609-22) The trial court, in its discretion, adopted the findings and conclusions after taking into account the objections of Ozuna's trial counsel. There were changes made to the original findings to reflect many of these objections. The challenge of the findings by Ozuna is not supported by the record or law. They accurately reflect the testimony and the law and should not be disturbed by this court.

RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR FIVE – SENTENCING.

There is a specific statute allowing for the testimony of an officer, RCW 9.94A.500(1) "The court shall consider the risk assessment report and presentence reports, if any, including any victim impact statement and criminal history, and allow arguments from the prosecutor, the defense counsel, the offender, the victim, the survivor of the victim, or a representative of the victim or survivor, and **an investigative law enforcement officer as to the sentence to be imposed."** (Emphasis mine.)

The totality of the statement made by this Detective from the Sunnyside Police Department is as follows;

OFFICER LAYMAN: My name is Detective Robert Layman, Sunnyside Police Department. We're asking for a higher than normal sentence based on the history of Mr. Ozuna. The original charge that this case stemmed from, he attempted to run over a police officer while in a stolen vehicle.

Intimidation is the biggest key that keeps gangs in power. This is how they avoid the criminal justice system, and it's becoming more and more prevalent here in the recent years of gangs using intimidation through means on the outside or trying to get word to the outside, people contact witnesses and victims. We just would like, I guess, a message shown that that's not going to be tolerated. Thank you.

It is apparent from this statement that this Detective was a part of this case. He states information in the first person; he is not stating to the court what Det. Rollinger, the detective who was the lead investigator, wanted the court to hear in his absence. The crime that defendant was convicted of affects the entire community, it has a chilling affect on all cases of a similar nature.

As the cases cited below indicate the cases and the Revised Code of Washington state "an investigative law enforcement officer." There is no dispute that this case arose in Sunnyside, was investigated by the Sunnyside Police Department and that Detective Lyman is a member of that department. He therefore is "an investigative law enforcement officer" Detective is defined in Merriam-Webster Online dictionary;

Detective noun

: a police officer whose job is to find information about crimes that have occurred and to catch criminals: a person whose job is to find information about something or someone

: one employed or engaged in <u>detecting</u> lawbreakers or in getting information that is not readily or publicly accessible

Clearly even the "text book" definition of Detective Layman's position would allow for this testimony.

Further, the law in this State is such that if a party does not object to information supplied at sentencing his waives later challenge. State v. Burkins, 94 Wn. App. 677, 697-8, 973 P.2d 15 (1999);

In determining any sentence, the trial court may rely on no more information than was admitted, acknowledged, or proved in a trial or sentencing. RCW 9.94A.370(2). Information presented at sentencing without objection is deemed acknowledged by the defendant. State v. Handley, 115 Wn.2d 275, 283, 796 P.2d 1266 (1990).

See also, <u>State v. Mail</u>, 121 Wn.2d 707, 711, 854 P.2d 1042 (1993);

The SRA mandates that the court "shall consider the presentence reports . . . and allow arguments from the prosecutor, the defense counsel, the offender, the victim, the survivor of the victim, or a representative of the victim or survivor, and an investigative law enforcement officer as to the sentence to be imposed." RCW 9.94A.110. This section of the statute forms a baseline - a minimum amount of information which, if available and offered, must be considered in sentencing. By comparison, RCW 9.94A.370(2) identifies the information that the court "may rely on" in arriving at a sentence within the standard range, but does not limit in any way the sources of information a

sentencing court may consider. State v. Handley, 115 Wn.2d 275, 282, 796 P.2d 1266 (1990). See also David *Boerner, Sentencing in Washington* SS 6-13, at 6-21 (1985) (noting that the SRA places no limitations on the information a sentencing judge may consider in arriving at a sentence within the standard range). Hence, the sentencing court must consider information presented pursuant to RCW 9.94A.110, but may also consider other sources of information in arriving at a sentence within the standard range.

Even if this Court were to conclude there was error that error would be harmless. The argument put forth by Ozuna as a basis to overturn this sentence is as was stated by the dissent in <u>State v. Crider</u>, 78 Wn. App. 849, 862-3, 899 P.2d 24 (1995):

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